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___________ never the less I don’t care that much because I know that those people are sometimes difficult position.

Interviewee:
I don’t really care.  _____________ not _____ for me __________________ elected officials _____________.  See that’s why I ran for office a couple times and I’m not gonna run for office no more.  I don’t have no plans to.  If I win if I run again it’s just in my local district, but what happened is I was elected official –

[0:01:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- __________same thing ___________________________ I’m more free to say things now.
Interviewer:
What public offices did you run for?

Interviewee:
I ran for state representative ___________ position against _______________.  First I ran ____________________ race and he got in so I got out and supported him.  See, that type thing.  Or after the second time I ran for state representative.  Next time I ran for county commission against Minerva.  

So what happened is my name is really out there, but at the same time you gotta be in a certain bracket before _______________ regardless of what you do, but I need to let you know this first of all.


We got a White Memphis, a Black Memphis, East Memphis, North and South Memphis and the Black relationship is just as bad as White  in Memphis.

Interviewer:
The Black relationship?

[0:02:00]
 

Interviewee:
Yes; among ‘em; each other.  _____________ I’m talkin’ ‘bout facts.  You got Blacks –

Interviewer:
Why do you think this relationship of between which Black groups do you think this relationship is ________ --?

Interviewee:
Well, okay.  What starts all of this is a relationship between the lower Blacks and the higher Blacks so to speak.  In a neighborhood like here where a person makes ___________ the money, then they move on out, leave the neighborhood, move out into a sort of better neighborhood so to speak.  That’s why I stay in a neighborhood like this.

When they make some money they move on out.  Everybody do.  

Interviewer:
What do you think are the areas where this conflict becomes obvious?

Interviewee:
In the ghetto areas so to speak.  It becomes obvious in an area like this.  People come over here and get the __________ back on out _____________me, okay, I have a lot of influence.  ________ --

[0:03:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- people don’t break in cars and steal or snatch purses.  It’s bad in this immediate area when they can say oh, I go to Warren’s and he kind of oversee that area.  

That’s how back in the 60s when all them riots and the violence and all was goin’ on.  ________ I been dealin’ with this type of thing even before the civil rights things.  Before the ’67-’68 riots and all, but what happened I been dealin’ with the community way before then back in the early 50s.  

Interviewer:
Could you describe just a little bit for my record, just describe for a little bit where do you come from ?  Where you grew up?  Very short.

Interviewee:
I’m from Mississippi.  Share cropper son, family of 17.  None of my brothers and sisters are like me.  I’m only one in business out –

[0:04:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- of all of them.  So you can’t make people be what you want them to be.  They have to be within, but I’m from a family of 17.

Interviewer:
So you were born in Mississippi?

Interviewee:
Mississippi;  and I –

Interviewer:
And you came up on your own?

Interviewee:
I came up, went in the barber shop and asked the man could I have a job.  He says, ‘Can you cut hair?’  I said, ‘Yeah; I can cut hair.’  But I could and have been doin’ ever since and _______________.


So when I say I’m from Mississippi, it seemed like people been deprived.  We are the kind of people that do better under pressure on civil rights.  Let’s go to civil rights for a minute.


Civil rights; when they wouldn’t let us vote, we had to march, but as soon as we got it we _________ vote.  If they go back and said hey, you can’t vote, then we’ll vote.  That’s the kind of thing that I’ve seen.  That’s a proven fact.  The thing that we can’t have that’s what we’re gonna fight to get.

[00:05:00]
 

Interviewer:
So what you’re saying in essence is ______________ right is before you got the Civil Rights Act in 1965 –

Interviewee:
___________________.

Interviewer:
Yeah.  More Black people really were willing to vote and were willing to exercise their rights, were trying to push for it, but as soon as they got it they did not vote ________ --
Interviewee:
I would like to see it go back to a point where we couldn’t do it and we will do it.  We can do anything ________ real strong, but at the same time we better do better under pressure, even ________.

Interviewer:
Why do you think this is true for the Black community if it’s not true for the White community ___________?

Interviewee:
I know.  _____________ Black.  That’s why I can say that.  The people I deal with, 600 people a week, we better – okay; even on jobs.  The more pressure we have put on us, the better we function seems like.

Interviewer:
So do you think, so in essence Black people only function when – 

[0:06:00]
 

Interviewer
-- :there’s pressure?

Interviewee:
No; not ____________.  Okay.  _______________ I’m in the midst of this crisis situation, but it seems to function better.  ________ go to prove to you, look back in the Civil Rights; equal rights.  Now we got to a place – we couldn’t go into restaurants, couldn’t drink out of the same restroom, same water fountain.  Now we don’t care.  We gotta go to the one off to the side.  That’s the truth.

What I’m sayin’ like, like _______ when we had a right – we couldn’t vote, we died to vote.  That’s true.  When we couldn’t even vote.  There _________ time we couldn’t vote.  We had to pay po’ taxes.  We had to pay po’ taxes and they _________ passed a law where we didn’t have to pay po’ taxes.  We just had our equal right to vote, but we won’t vote.

Interviewer:
But what do you think are the historical reasons for that?

[0:07:00]
 
Interviewee:
The historical reason, the way I –

Interviewer:
The reasons –

Interviewee:
It’s been planted in us to __________________ against them.  __________ The older group of people now, we gotta disband them.  We gotta start at the roots of the thing where the key is.  I sit around here.  I talk with hundreds of kids a week.  Most of the thing they talk about – they never talk about constructive stuff.  

They always talk about what happened last night.  Nothin’ constructive and it scare me.  It’s terrifyin’ to see and hear the young people talk about things that’s not constructive if you understand what I’m sayin’.


They don’t have to be specific, but it’s constructive things that what we need to start gettin’ young people to talk about.  What they wanna be when they grow up.  What kinda’ business.  What kinda’ degree they wanna get.  These are the type of things that you don’t hear from ‘em.  They sit around talk about who be that –

[0:08:00]


Interviewee:
-- fightin’ last night.  Things like that.
Interviewer:
So you said that it was sort of planted through a lot of Black people that they are more passive.  There is no pressure on them in the political sense, not in the overall sense.  

Interviewee:
In the overall sense ________ political.  If a person – the more pressure in the political field that we get, the harder we seem to work.  Although it’s somethin’ that keeps them down.  I don’t know what that is after getting off the political ________.  It’s somethin’.  Like they raise all kinda’ ______ and say I’m gonna do this or that.  When they get in political office they get quiet.  They can’t speak out.

[0:09:00]
Interviewer:
Would you say that is true for most Memphis Black politicians when they get in the office they become quiet?

Interviewee:
Most, yes.

Interviewer:
Why do you think is the reason for that?

Interviewee:
That’s what I can’t figure out.  That’s just why I ran for office so I can find out what was goin’ on.  I found out that I wasn’t – I don’t know how you put it.  I wasn’t able to say crooked enough or dirty enough or however you wanna put it.  You had to be a certain kinda’ people.  They didn’t let you get in if you’re not _________.

Interviewer:
What offices did you hold?

Interviewee:
I never held ‘em –

Interviewer:
But you were running for them.

Interviewee:
Oh yeah; right.  But I probably woulda’ won the first time I ran, but when you run for office here and lose then that kinda’ damages your credibility.  

Interviewer:
What I wanted to ask you is when you came to Memphis and you –

[0:10:00]
 
Interviewer:
-- started working in the barber shop, when was that?

Interviewee:
In 1951.

Interviewer:
In 1951.  Could you describe just a little bit the situation in the 50s and the situation as concerns civil rights and race relations?  The 50s it was the segregationist period.  
Interviewee:
Right.

Interviewer:
What I’m really interested in, when did it start? When did the NAACP or when did other people, individuals, too, start fighting against this segregation?  There was a fight against –

Interviewee:
Really, really started the fight?

Interviewer:
Well, there was a fight against segregation all over.  It was in the Civil War and since the Jim Crowe laws were instituted that Black people fought against segregation, but at the end of the 50s the NAACP launched more lawsuits and the beginning of the 60s.  In March, 1960 the sit-in period started.  There was boycotting.  When did it start in Memphis?

[0:11:00]
 
Interviewee:
Really, really got – it been goin’ on all the time, but when it really got really started, 1967; ’67.  It really kicked off in ’68.  Have to watch that ___________.  I mean watch California.

Interviewer:
In 1965, yes.

Interviewee:
That’s when it really spread on to here all across the country.
Interviewer:
So what you’re saying is that –

Interviewee:
It really started, it had been goin’ all the time, but when it really ______________ all over the place, everywhere, even in Memphis, and Stokely Carmichael came along.

Interviewer:
How did you become involved in it?

Interviewee:
Well, see, like I say I’ve been involved.  I got involved more in ’67 and ’68.

Interviewer:
Where were you involved?  In which groups were you involved in the 50s and 60s?

Interviewee:
Well I’ve been connected with all of ‘em.  Stokely Carmichael, all of them have come through here.

Interviewer:
Were you connected also in the 50s and 60s with the NAACP or organizations like --?

[0:12:00]

Interviewee:
NAACP, I was a member, but I was always workin’ in communities.  In 1965 when I got really involved in community ‘cause I worked at juvenile court ’65 to ’68.  In ’65 to ’68 when I really got involved.  I worked at juvenile court and I talked to a lot of kids at juvenile court as a probation officer.  

I worked there and I asked the kids, ‘What you doin’ over here?’  He said, ‘Well I tell ya’ what.  I didn’t have money to buy things like ice cream, __________, get my ______________ and clothes.’  Just basic things on a day-to-day basis.  Then I really got involved ‘cause these are the kind of background that I had raised up under.


I’m not supposed to be who I am either according to my background.  I got involved.  Asked the kids, I said, ‘What you doin’?’  I left juvenile court in 1968 when everything was –

[00:13:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- cooperative and started a youth service.  I started a youth service and I found out the kids that got – the city used to furnish me two buses every mornin’ to go from one neighborhood to the other.


The local radio station, WDIE, give me all the equipment to start this new program.  I had it goin’ good, two buses, big write-up.  I got it.  Can show you.

Interviewer:
Who supported this new program?

Interviewee:
WDIE radio station.  WDIE give me all the equipment to start the program.  I got it goin’ good for three years.  You can see the whole _______.  You can see the whole _______ program.  Got women say, ‘Oh, we wanna help you.’  I had two buses every mornin’ sittin’ in front of the shop.  Kids from neighborhood to neighborhood clean up around projects and streets and allies and whatever.  


Go to show you how things tossed around.  After that, after doin’ that I got the program goin’ good.  They joinin’.  ____________ people stayed at home.  

Interviewer:
How old were those young people?

Interviewee:
Twelve to 17.

Interviewer:
Twelve to 17.

[0:14:00]
 
Interviewee:
But they’re the kids couldn’t nobody hire or that was the problem group of kids because they were a little bit too young to get on a regular job and I would let 12 kids work a day.  I had all of their records that showed you how many kids could work each day.  When I would do that I let a group, so each one could have a little money in his pocket to buy some of the things they wanted for basic –

Interviewer:
They were high school dropouts?

Interviewee:
No.

Interviewer:
They were still in high school.

Interviewee:
They didn’t have no job and couldn’t nobody hire them from 12 to 17.  When I got the program goin’ good for three years, ___________ join.  Oh, we like what you’re doin’.
Interviewer:
And that was in?

Interviewee:
In ’68.

Interviewer:
In ’68.

Interviewee:
Uh huh; ’69.  I had the program goin’ and they would clean up areas and city hall joined me __________________ program the program in city hall and it wipe me out.  I got all the write-ups to –

[0:15:00]


Interviewee:
--  show where I started kids, got their pictures, where they would clean up ______________ and they go to _________ what happened there.  It’s a __________.  It’s frightenin’.  The way things can happen.  You can start somethin’ good, a good program ____________________ join _____________ take; just take it all.

Interviewer:
So how long did you do this program?  Two years.

Interviewee:
Three.

Interviewer:
Three years.  So that was until 1971.

Interviewee:
Uh huh.

Interviewer:
Why did it falter or fail _______?

Interviewee:
It didn’t -- ___________________________.  _____________ the program I have ____________________ now.  

Interviewer:
So they –

Interviewee:
__________________________ program you joinin’ with me and you get to the press and the press gives you all the credit and ______________________.

Interviewer:
So city hall pushed you out of it.

Interviewee:
Right.  I got the write-ups to show.  I got all the write-ups to share __________ and all the other stuff.  

[0:16:00]

Interviewer:
But what was the reason that they pushed you out of this program?

Interviewee:
Because – okay; I guess they thought _____________________.  

[Audio stops and starts]

Interviewee:
But even at that ___________________ the program you can have a bunch of people workin’ with you in the shop.  If you really want __________________________.  Same difference.  That’s what I’m talkin’ about Black relationships as bad as White ones.  Black _______________ I’ll have to go back and say this.  Okay; we have our race relationship meetin’ _______ dialogue, so have race relationship meetin’ and we have a lot of __________, but there’s the ones we need to talk to. 
Interviewer:
A lot of liberals and White ____________ --

Interviewee:
Come to a meetin’ talk about civil rights, how can we solve it.  They’re not the one that need to be talked to.  The one that don’t –

[0:17:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- come the one that needs.  See what I’m sayin’.


Okay; like I talk to you.  I need to talk -- ____________ need to talk to somebody that’s over you so to speak.  That’s all I’m sayin’.

Interviewer:
But see my position is only as a researcher.

Interviewee:
I know.  

Interviewer:
Yeah; sure.

Interviewee:
You see what I’m sayin’?  I’m talkin’ about race relation.  We talk about race relation with Black and White _______________ we wanna talk to the Blacks that really have the power to do somethin’.  We gotta talk to the Whites that have the power to do somethin’.  That’s all I’m sayin’.  If you understand what I’m talkin –
Interviewer:
Who are those Blacks who have the power in the Black community?

Interviewee:
The one that really have the high positions here that can really –

Interviewer:
Like?

Interviewee:
Well, talkin’ about whoever.  The elected officials, the Black bankers or whoever, but they’re the one that really make the decisions.  See, what I say, the people like over in say the ghetto wouldn’t have as much influence as I have to do somethin’.  We have more _______________________ there are people that have more power than I have.

[0:18:00]
 

Interviewer:
But isn’t it always the pressure as I see, the pressure has always to come from below.  Elected officials won’t do anything if there’s no pressure from below.

Interviewee:
Well, if you have – there’s no _____________ pressure.  I know what the pressure is before I got in office.  If I got a position, I already – I came from the same area.  So what I’m sayin’ don’t need no pressure.  I’m the pressure.

Interviewer:
Yeah; sure, but the thing is though that elected officials always respond or have to respond to pressure from their _________ --

Interviewee:
They talk the same thing before they get in there.  _____________ said.  They talk the same thing before they get in office whether he’s White or Black.  He talk the same good stuff to get in office.  When they get in there they don’t do nothin’.  What is it?  That’s what I don’t like.  See, that’s the only point that I don’t understand.


Okay.  I talk, like what I would do and if I get in office, when I get –

[00:19:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- in there I wonder would I do that.  That’s all I’m sayin’.  We got ________ people here.  When they run they say I’m gonna do this, I’m gonna do that.  That been proven by me.  


I know the people personally that have gotten high positions and when I get in there I’m gonna do certain things, but why is it?  Is politics that makes an area like this to be run down.  It’s somebody cause.  But that’s what I’m sayin’.  Who is the cause of it?  __________________.

Interviewer:
Yeah; but you’re never the less supporting politicians to come to office ________ --

Interviewee:
I support ________.  You keep tellin’ me _______________ and they can’t do it.  What is it?  I don’t know what that is.  That’s why I was runnin’ to find out and would I be isolated like the rest of ‘em.  Would I be ________ in a corner.  Would I be able to speak out or do the things that I wanna do.
[0:20:00]

Interviewer:
Then if you look at, for example, Black politicians here in the city, like the Ford family, for me it seems well.  First of all, they try to enhance their power, the power they have in order to get more of the political power, but on the other hand verbally they always say they’re working for our poor constituencies.  Sometimes I feel there is a contradiction between that.

Interviewee:
I feel it.  I don’t know what it is.  I can’t put my finger on it.  I notice that’s the same thing you thinkin’ about.  I think about it.  ________ happen makes a person talkin’ and not do it.  

Interviewer:
I think there are a lot of reasons for it.

Interviewee:
Okay; we just basically talkin’.  You might wonder why I say what –

[0:21:00]
 

Interviewee:
--I say.  I might wonder why you feel the things you got.  I have to be in your place.  We gotta swap places.  Okay; now I could go out in ______________ talk about _______ distraught places.  ________________ comin’ here for a couple weeks.


Okay; ____________________ understand, but see, these neighbors don’t know what I’m talkin’ about.  There’s no way.

Interviewer:
Sure/

Interviewee:
But there’s Blacks that came from the same environments I’ve come from that no’s I ain’t got to tell him what to do.  He knows what to do.

Interviewer:
But they behave in the same way as people in East Memphis ________________ --

Interviewee:
Yes.

Interviewer:
That’s what you’re saying.

Interviewee:
That’s what I’m sayin’.  You switch places.  See, if I can see through your eyes and you can see through my eyes and you see things altogether different.  


How in the world do we talk about a toothache and I’ve never had, you never had a toothache.  You can’t talk to me about it.  I’m talkin’ about just basic.  We started at lower level.  If you never had a heartache, never have been broke, disgusted, no food, no –

[00:22:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- clothes, slept outdoors, then you wanna know what the first – that man up there in the higher bracket don’t know what he’s talkin’ about.  We need to switch places for awhile.  Then we can understand.

Interviewer:
What I wanted to ask you is when do you think the conflicts or the tensions in the Black community?

Interviewee:
The what?

Interviewer:
The conflicts or tensions between the lower class or upper class Blacks.  I want to simplify a little bit.  Do you think these conflicts have become more intense since the 60s or were they basically always the same?

Interviewee:
They seem to be the same.  It hadn’t changed ________ since the 1960s.  That’s a good way for a person to get what he want to by talkin’ rhetoric in order to get to that other side of it.  The bouncin’ ________.  

[0:23:00]
 

Say okay, oh, here over here with us.  I would say if y’all put me in there I will do this and that.  I never do ‘cause you know I’m out here with ya’.  When you get over there you spread yourself on the other side, the thing that’s left.  This _______ scale _______ be tilted. If you do it’ll be tilted the other way on a higher level and you go feed all your information to this guy.  He knows what to do because he’s readin’ about that.  

The tensions haven’t changed not really since in the 60s.

Interviewer:
Just going back to the 60s again, were there in Memphis ______ boycotts or sit-ins in the beginning of the 60s in comparison to other cities?  Some people, for example, claim that Memphis was much quieter than other cities.


For example, almost no direct violence occurred between Black and Whites during the sit-in periods in 1960 and 1961.  Was there –

[0:24:00]
 

Interviewer:
-- less direct action, less __________, less conflict between the Black and Whites in Memphis than elsewhere?

Interviewee:
Less than anywhere in the world.

Interviewer:
What do you think are the reasons for that?

Interviewee:
That’s one I think I can’t find out, but it was less conflicts.  Martin Luther King got assassinated here, but the whole world went haywire.

Interviewer:
But not here.

Interviewee:
Okay.  ___________________________ city besides this.  That’s what I don’t understand.  That’s what make me say no when I wanna say yes and maybe say yes when I wanna say no.  So it’s race relationship.  I don’t know who squished things down, but in the 60s, Martin Luther King, ’68, when Martin Luther King got –

[00:25:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- killed here in Memphis, if it had been anywhere else – it happened _________________ happened all over the country.

Interviewer:
There are a couple of explanations people put forward to explain why, for example, in Memphis the beginning of the 60s___________________________ they say well the police commissioner didn’t want any violence.  He arrested people, but he did not bring them to court or the businessmen always – well always looked – were not pressured, but they were told by the so-called Black leaders from the NAACP that if they don’t desegregate, well the Black people will picket or make a sit-in and boycott their business.


Also, another reason put forward is, for example, well that the –

[0:26:00]


Interviewer: 
-- NAACP people work very close with the Black leadership at the beginning of the 60s.  There are reasons for it, but still, as you say, I cannot understand neither of it.


For example, in April 1968 when Martin Luther King was killed, every major American city is violent; violence broke out, but not in Memphis.

I sometimes have the feeling it had to do with the Black leadership here in town, too.

Interviewee:
It had to do with that.  All you have to do was talkin’ like __________ is get to same people.  I basically control this area, okay.  Same as other areas.  There are a lot of areas.  


In 1968 when all the stuff was goin’ on there are a lot of people –

[00:27:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- come in, don’t know what to do.  I said if this one we need to work together as a group I said as individuals not be ___________ the problem.


If I had then __________________ from my level on down _______ people that brought me ___________________ have a level ease on up from where they are to now to where I am and they trickle on down.


So what I’m sayin’ is the people – okay; I can have about 600 people come through here a week and people believe in me.  I’m not gonna tell them the wrong thing.  


Number one, if somethin’s happenin’.  ____________ major people that’s in control.  Then they turn around and when they get to the people they control, then the news media switched things –

[0:28:00]
 

Interviewee:
-- just backwards.  It’s turned around.  So you got to be able to know these things for yourself.


The people in Memphis just like a chicken – you ever seen a chicken with its head cut off how he’s jumpin’?  It’s just lost.  If you told the people the truth they wouldn’t believe it and whatever.  Ya’ know what I mean.  


Other words, I guess it’s ____________.  I don’t know what you call that, but I know that’s – I know how to react to certain things, but the most people I deal with don’t know how to react to certain environments.

Interviewer:
Well just different question.  You said, well there are people like you who are in control of a certain area.  Is this true for the whole Black community –

Interviewee:
Yeah; ___________ --

Interviewer:
-- in north Memphis and south Memphis?

Interviewee:
Mhmm.

Interviewer:
But there are small neighborhoods like you said, in 600 or 1,000 people.

[0:29:00]

Interviewee:
Right; 600,000 right.  What I’m sayin’ is that every neighborhood has somebody that they kinda’ look up to, whether he’s a civil leader, elected official.  Alright.  That’s ____________.  For definite.  If you said John and Hal __________.  Same amount of people _____________ and same amount of people don’t resents that and _____________ other people  Everybody have some thought.  


But at the same time put all that together it’s for us groups.  Like all the elected officials would have five, six Black runnin’ for office for elective official for the mayor ____________________ how come they couldn’t get together and decide what they were gonna do for you?  What is it?  I wanna know what that is myself _________ gettin’ together and say we’re havin’ a meetin’.  We say okay.  _____________________ people just – that’s just vote ________ people ___________________________________.

[0:30:00]

It’s screwed all up.  You’d have to shake it up and thrash it out, but I react the way it allow me ______________ around.  

Interviewer:
Let’s go back for a second.  Earlier you talked about your involvement in the ________ and in the youth service –

Interviewee:
Yeah; I made the Black Knights, but I was in barber.  All of the groups.  

Interviewer:
Yes; could you just describe a little bit, well how you started the Black Knights?  When did it start and why did it start?

Interviewee:
Okay; Martin Luther King got killed on the 4th ___________ Black Knights organization on the 7th.  April 4th; on the 7th I organized the organization, which is a self-help type organization.

Interviewer:
Excuse me.  A self?

[0:31:00]

Interviewee:
Self-help type organization.  I wish I could give you one of the purpose, the purpose of the Black Knights organization.  The purpose was to build a better _______ secure ___________ was qualified and so on and tell ya’ what the whole, all the whole purpose that was _________ organizer his self, he got killed on the 4th and organized the Black Knights got a _______.  It was a ______________.  I organized it on the 7th of April.

Interviewer:
Go on.

Interviewee:
How many members?

Interviewer:
Yes.

Interviewee:
Had about 2,500 members.

Interviewer:
Those 2,500 members, were they most of all Black, young men or were they women, too?

Interviewee:
Black.  Well we dealed with domestic problem, but we were mostly Black men, business, young men; young business.  Not the violent type guys.  Like I say our purpose was – see Isaac Hayes –

[0:32:00]

Interviewee:
-- was the vice president.  Isaac Hayes still is the vice president.

The purpose of our organization was to do somethin’ for ourselves and isolate – like in 1968-69 we was organized to do somethin’ for ourselves.  That’s why we was never throwed in jail.  Our purpose still stands today.

Interviewer:
What actions did you take?  Could you describe that a little bit?

Interviewee:
Now we were never burnin’ down ________ tearin’ up stuff.  Now you mighta’ had a few members in there.  You gonna have __________________, but you had – our organization was to – our members work at Firestone, International Harvester.  Isaac Hayes was the vice president, award winnin’, award winner David Porter, Al Bell.  All the major recordin’ artists was a part of our organization.  What we did, our purpose was to help people; food, --

[0:33:00]

Interviewee:
-- clothin’, jobs, ________ the bills; things like that.  That’s what our purpose was.  


Where people said ___________________ pays for them.  That type of thing.

Interviewer:
So was it organized with a office?

Interviewee:
Our office is here.

Interviewer:
And still is here.

Interviewee:
It still is here.

Interviewer:
What are the changes over the time?  For example, I read a lot about the Black Knights the beginning of the 70s in the newspaper.  I didn’t later 70s I didn’t find anything on the Black Knights in the newspaper.

Interviewee:
Well our organization, if you notice cross country, Stokely Carmichael ________________, all those Black Panthers, you hear less about them.  NAACP, you go to the meetin’ now you’d find 25-30 people at the most.

Interviewer:
When do you think the activities declined in the Black Knights?

Interviewee:
In 1972 and ’73.  All the members that I had with the Black Knights organization, we were doin’ it in forces, but now I could –

[0:34:00]

Interviewee:
-- pick up the phone and do now, just get as much done just by callin’.  I made 
that connection.  That was good.  I made all the connection by havin’ the group organization.  All I have to do now is get the phone call and get as much done by all of us doin’ it by ourselves.  Organization still goin’ strong, but course I laid the groundwork.
Interviewer:
How many members are there right now?

Interviewee:
We only have a few members now, a few, few, very few and all the organizations have very few members, but like I say, NAACP doesn’t have nothin’ like ______________ members –

Interviewer:
You mean only 25 or 30 show up, but still there are 10,000 members all over the city –

Interviewee:
Right; that’s what I’m sayin’.  There are a lot of people that accepted what I’m doin’ stayin’ with NAACP.  When I speak out they say oh, you’re a member.  Just like the guy you’re talkin’ about who used to participate.  


Now if the Black Knights do somethin’, then he say oh yeah, I’m a member of Black Knights, but he’s way east somewhere wherever he is.  He ________ what the organization does.  I’m --

[0:35:00]

Interviewee:
-- ___________________ NAACP right now what the NAACP means.  No organization have many members like _____________.  ______________ organizations used to go by how many members you have and how strong you was.

Interviewer:
Do you still have meetings?

Interviewee:
No; but like I said, I can get as much done as I want.  For real.  I can get just as much done by just pickin’ up the telephone and callin’ and gettin’ it done.

Interviewer:
I remember in 1970 you got a grant from the Department of Human Services and Welfare, $29,000.00 to stage a play.
Interviewee:
Right.

Interviewer:
As far as I recall from reading the newspaper the play was staged in certain schools, but teachers and some parents I think particularly of White students objected to the play because there was definite like Black power and things like that.  What was your experience during that play?

Interviewee:
Well see, what happened, I don’t care what you do, you’re gonna –

[0:36:00]

Interviewee:
-- have somebody who’s diversified, but just like I say, it had the good potential.  Our purpose was not to __________.  You’re gonna have some reaction everywhere you go.  So what I’m sayin’ our purpose was and like I said, if it had a bad meetin’, then we woulda’ been ridiculed so to speak.


So _______ the play went off ___________ I find.  So that’s what you didn’t hear.  You don’t hear that we took the money and we did what we had to put ___________________ for.  


So what I’m sayin’, you gonna have some reaction.  Like race relationship at that time was bad.  Like I said, the criticism that we –

[0:37:00]

Interviewee:
-- got, you gonna have somebody get in there and gonna mess up anything you do, but we were worthy of the $29,000.00.  The ______ sold out.  The play was ___________ we had to ________ of it.  

Interviewer:
What was the title of the play?

Interviewee:
I got all the write-ups back there.  See, I wasn’t the director.  I was named – see after the money being spent like it’s supposed to, the checks.  A lot of people that never knew _______________. _______ Playhouse or somethin’ like that.  I can’t remember.


I got all the write-ups.  I got all the newspaper.  I got just about every newspaper in my office back there.  I wish I had a chance to give you a copy of the ________________, like _______________ more.  About James Earl Ray, all that ________________.  I got all those write-ups.  


I got about every write-up that came out in the paper.  The girl, the –

[0:38:00]

Interviewee:
-- editor was at the commercial ____________ now I do their hair.  I wish you could have a copy of the very first write-up.  I got all that.


But what our purpose was alright; okay.  In 1968 when I started Black Knights organization, all people ________________ and I almost got loaded up twice.  It wasn’t no White folks.  

Interviewer:
When?

Interviewee:
I don’t know.

Interviewer:
When did this happen?  When did you get blowed up?

Interviewee:
I said I didn’t.  I said I almost ____________________________.  Is what I’m saying when do you get to the point that you don’t be criticized on one side or the other?

Interviewer:
What were the occasions when you were --?

Interviewee:
Occasions were I start the Black Knights organization myself after ________.  At the same time, when things get good people gonna try to take it.  It was goin’ good.  At the time we had a little office ==

[0:39:00]

Interviewee:
-- up in Chattanooga, Tennessee and ___________________ same thing we’re doin’ here, but the same time _________________ some guys come to the meetin’ say, ‘Oh he don’t know how to run no organization.’  All he had to do was start him off.

I hadn’t had as much problems out of Whites, but they understood the purpose.  The purpose, the record in your purpose would mean somethin’ and I really had less problem out of White than I had Blacks.  

Interviewer:
So the Black Knights wasn’t only an organization restricted to Memphis, but as you said, there was an organization in Chattanooga, too?

Interviewee:
Yeah; about a year or so.  ______________ that’s the only place in Chattanooga.  

Interviewer:
Is Chattanooga _______ Memphis?

Interviewee:
Ernest _________ head of it.  One of the ________.  He was goin’ around from city to city.  He met this guy.  _________________ in Chattanooga, Tennessee.  When he met him up there he asked us –

[0:40:00]

Interviewee:
-- about settin’ up a chapter of the Black Knights organization there.

Interviewer:
So it started in Memphis originally.

Interviewee:
Right here.  ____________ started right here.  _______________.

Interviewer:
It started also or it spread to Chattanooga and to where else?

Interviewee:
Washington, D.C.  Youth organization ____________________ part of youth organization ____________.  I wish you could talk to Joe __________.  I sent him to Washington to work with youth organizations ________ and I sent him up there for three days.  He stayed three years.  He ____________________.  Boy named Warren Green was head of youth organization, which put all organization, if you understand what that, put all youth organizations together as one _______________.  


So Joe ________ was one of the directors.  He worked down here at Atlanta Life Insurance Company now.  ___________.  Now Joe _______, I sent him to Washington to represent me for three days ‘cause I couldn’t go up __________________.  I said to him, I asked him, ‘Will you go and represent me in Washington youth –

[0:41:00]

Interviewee:
-- organization _______?’  He went up there and stayed three years.  Although he’d come back every so often, he got connected with one of the high guys in youth organization _______.
Interviewer:
So the Black Knights grew out of the youth organization.  Is that right?  

Interviewee:
No; we connected with all those organizations.  Like organizations, we all join in together, make contact with each other so to speak.  Not working – workin’ indirectly with all them.  We worked with the _______ as bad as they were.  As tough as they was.  Have you talked ____________ invaders?

Interviewer:
Mhmm; I talked to –

Interviewee:
____________________.  That’s what I’m sayin’.  We were one and the same, but two different organizations workin’ together for a common cause.  They had a completely different view from what –

[0:42:00]

Interviewee:
-- we had, but we understood each other I think.  That’s why we never had any conflict as far as fightin’ or anything like that.


What I’m sayin’, the invaders had a different purpose from what we were doin’.  They would get out there and get it done for everybody.  That’s _________.  They would get it done.  They’d ________ you up.  


We were never involved in that type of confrontation.

Interviewer:
Well after the invaders, they dissemble in 1968, but then there came the Black Panther party.

Interviewee:
Black Panther party; yeah, but they didn’t dissemble in 1968.  They were goin’ strong – well, the same people they still around in all the organizations.  They gonna surface again.  All ____________ gonna surface.  I may not be around, but they all ____________________ again.

Interviewer:
But Sweet Willie Warren I think, he became the most important figure in the Black Panther party, but still when did you show up?  
[0:43:00]

Interviewer:
There were the invaders.  There were ________ like John Smith, _______ Cabbage ____________ --

Interviewee:
_______________________________.  These guys ___________, but they may be preachers or maybe deacons in the church, but they still __________.

Interviewer:
What happened to _______________?

Interviewee:
Oh, he’s still around.  I see him every so often.  He wears a robe of some type now, but anyway John _________, one of the baddest ones in the group, he is a preacher now, but if you touch him or rub him the wrong way you’ll see that ’68 pop back up.


Same as me.  Okay, now, we were a non-violent organization that fired back in self-defense.  We didn’t go out pushin’ around people and stuff like that.  What I’m sayin’ is you talkin’ the same invaders that you talked about a long time ago and you’ll see if you talk to them and can communicate with them and feel what they feel you’ll see _____________.  You’ll see ’68.
[0:44:00]
Interviewer:
So what does Sweet Willie Warren does now?

Interviewee:
He’s basically a loner.  He’s a loner, but he’s touchin’ base with all the _______________.

Interviewer:
What is he doing professionally or his job?

Interviewee:
Oh, he _____________________.

Interviewer:
Excuse me?

Interviewee:
You never met him have you?

Interviewer:
No; that’s why I’m asking.  

Interviewee:
He’s not able to work.  He’s about ____________ one arm and then they marked from a __________________.  The man jumped at a __________ and broke his arm all up.  The arm _______________________.  He’s not able to work.  He’s _______ able to talk.

Interviewer:
So all those organizations, the Black Panther party, all the Black –

[0:45:00]

Interviewer:
-- Knights, the activities gradually declined the beginning of the 70s.

Interviewee:
About three good years there we were goin’.

Interviewer:
It was 1969, 1970, 1971?

Interviewee:
___________________________ all organizations were.  __________________________________ all kinda’ people _________________around here.

Interviewer:
It was the climate of the time –

[Crosstalk]

Interviewee:
At that time, I might not ever meet you again, but I can assure you that all the organizations is not dead in the night.  Now the same thing goin’ on it was in 1967, ’65, ’66, ’67, ’68, on like that, the same people have the same mind that they did then, but they’re more discreet with it.

Interviewer:
Why?

[0:46:00]

Interviewee:
Well they’re doin’ it, but – same thing, but on an individual basis.

Interviewer:
But why on an individual basis?

Interviewee:
Well see, what happened is they doin’ their own things ____________.  They’re doin’ their own thing.

Interviewer:
But however, I mean as a group you can force more of your own ideas.

Interviewee:
Like I say, I’m doin’ more now of the same thing I was doin’ then with all those people I had.  I know it’s strange, but that’s true.  I’m doin’ as much now as all of us did with ______________ goin’ on.  I can pick up the phone and get as much done.
Interviewer:
So people who participate in the Black Knights are –

Interviewee:
We did it ___________________, but the minds wasn’t geared to what it’s really supposed to be.

Interviewer:
There were?

Interviewee:
They wasn’t geared to where they’re supposed to been.  They ______________ one person when everybody _______________________.  You see things pop up like __________  fire bomb a place or somebody rob a place or somebody 
[0:47:00]
Interviewee:
The same thing the whole group did, but people doin’ it on an individual basis because I had people come in since I had the organization goin’ when I first got the charter.  I had now who were these people.  I had people fly in from New York, Chicago, California __________________.  Where are they now?  

They don’t be here ________ no more ‘cause they found out that my purpose was the same ________ I had on the paper and –

[0:48:00]

Interviewee:
-- __________________.  I got the same purpose back then I have now and I still strivin’ at the same goal that I started off in 1968.

Interviewer:
What do you remember or do you recall what happened, for example, to the Black Panther party?  I recall the newspaper, for example.  It was written there was a trial against 16 of Black Panthers after they invaded two of Republican housing projects to get families placed there.

Interviewee:
Down in ___________?

Interviewer:
Yes; I think on Kansas Street.

Interviewee:
Oh yeah; right.

[0:49:00]
Interviewer:
And they were trial in 1970 –

Interviewee:
I don’t know what happened to the men, but I know they were arrested.  I was told by one of the higher officers of _________ if it hada’ been me they wouldn’t have bothered.  What happened the, all I know you’ve told me.


Like I told you, my purpose was my views and viewpoints was different from theirs.  They didn’t like them, but our purpose was a different view.  Had a different view.


So what I’m sayin’, if I had been told by one of the guys arrest him ________________________ we wouldn’t have bothered.  Now I don’t know why.  If it was wrong for them it was wrong for us.


A lot of things I don’t know the answer to.  I just know it happened.

[0:50:00]

Interviewer:
It’s just something which always pops up.  It’s always said that police in Memphis, Chicago, Washington, it doesn’t matter, at that time, ’68, ’69, ’70, ’71 they tried to arrest Black Panthers and people they didn’t like on whatever charges they could think of, even if it was ridiculous to get them off the street, to get them arrested, to get them maybe in jail so they couldn’t be active anymore.


Do you think this was well planned or did you feel like it was a well planned strategy to get all the Black Panthers away from the streets?

Interviewee:
It woulda’ been the same with me if I had a adverse attitude toward society so to speak.  If they couldn’t isolate you like that, they’d –

[0:51:00]

Interviewee:
-- turn groups against each other; animosity, dissension between each other.  The same thing today.

Interviewer:
________ not that necessary anymore because you don’t have that many groups.
Interviewee:
No; you don’t have that many groups, but you can still do that.  

Interviewer:
Do you think that this, well the fight of the police against Black power groups at the _______ of the 70s was a major cause of the decline of these groups?

Interviewee:
Yes; _________ major cause in decline.  What we did, we did a lot of things ‘cause we worked with the police.  That was the difference.  They understood – okay; if somebody get a read out, --

[0:52:00]
Interviewee:
--they always, some of them around here together. They had two – well there was two ________ to work with us.  ______________ they been ____________.

Interviewer:
Was this a helpful and fruitful relationship, the Black Knights and the police?

Interviewee:
Was it helpful?

Interviewer:
Yeah.

Interviewee:
Yes.  It was helpful, but like I’m saying, if you had two ___________ they’d basically work with us.  At the same time, they had _______________ they had ________ signed with the other groups to work with, but when it come to they treadin’ in the national security, then that’s when they stated puttin’ them away.


I was told by some of the higher officers if I had have been diversified, then I’d have been locked up, too.  _____________ jail because they always had somebody work with me.  They knew exactly what we was gonna do __________ we did it together and that’s true.

[0:53:00]


Like if you was the police and you’re workin’ with me you ain’t gonna put me in jail if you’re working with me on a project.  That’s all.  That just happened today.  It happened yesterday, a few years ago and it’s still happenin’ now.


_________________ all of us, by the way, in one big jail, _______ Blacks in one big jail now you __________ like this.

Interviewer:
Oh yeah; I did.  Like this, but –

Interviewee:
________ in one big jail.  If you mess up they take you out the big jail and put you in the little one.  _________.  I know you may not quite understand that yet, but you will some day.
Interviewer:
Why do you use this image of the big jail?

Interviewee:
Big jail; this whole area –

Interviewer:
Yeah; I know what it is, but why do you name it as a jail?  What were some –

[0:54:00]

Interviewee:
When you cross a certain street, the door closes, slam.  I can hear it slam.  ___________ today _______ the daytime go down, straight down _____________________ ‘cause when you cross _________ this side coming north, its door in my mind slams.  This is north Memphis and it’s got a red line around.  You _____________ walk up to the bank ____________ much as I own in north Memphis tell ‘em I need $2,000.00, you’ll see __________ a door slam.


Now when I’m sayin’ that, you probably ________ understand, but I know what I’m talking about.  When the riots, Elton Hay, do you remember? Did you read about Elton Hay?  Elton Hay’s got –

[0:55:00]

Interviewee:
-- killed..  Elton Hay got killed here in Memphis.  I was a part of that.  

We were out in the neighborhood big happenin’ ______________ tryin’ to talk to the people ___________.  This Black guy there say, ‘Hey, you all live over there in them nice houses.  Where you live.  My house just _______________.  Y’all got ___________________ this here.’


That’s why I was tellin’ you all the things I was tellin’ you in the first place.  I’m out there tryin’ to help.  ______________ I know was shot _________ with a big shotgun because ____________________________________ I looked just like anybody else.


Course when they found out I was out there tryin’ to help, then that was a different situation.  I don’t know what – I don’t know.  How in the world to run this ________.

Interviewer:
I can’t intellectually understand it.  I can never feel it because I’m not Black and living here in north Memphis.

Interviewee:
Right.  What I’m sayin’ is most people hadn’t had this real –

[0:56:00]

Interviewee:
-- involvement out here.  The people out here, they didn’t have that real involvement with people like I had.  It’s a close tie between me and the people out here.  Like I say, when in ’68, I had never seen ___________.  In 1968 when all this stuff was goin’ on, ____________ ride around _____________ wasn’t no curfew then.  That’s ______________.  We was isolated with the tanks and National Guard and stuff.  

That’s what makes the jail.  But at the same time, when you cross a certain line you are at a reservation.  Now I think I brought it a little closer to home.  In India, reservation right?

Interviewer:
Yeah; it is sure.

Interviewee:
Right.  Well ______________________.  They might be a few –

[0:57:00]

Interviewee:
-- Indians get what they want, where they wanna be.  Like me, I _______ everybody ______ can’t have what I have, do what I do.

Interviewer:
Memphis is racially strictly segregated like every other major city in the United States.

Interviewee:
It is like that, but I –

Interviewer:
Except maybe San Francisco, Los Angeles, but still there are some areas like _________ or ___________ maybe.

Interviewee:
I live over there.

Interviewer:
It’s more integrated, integrated area where Black and White.  Sometimes –

Interviewee:
The people that live in that area, by the way, are basically about the same income bracket, the same thoughts basically, that ______ isolated area in there is basically the same.

[0:58:00]

Interviewer:
But still that’s I think the only area in Memphis where you can say well there are Black and White people living in the same area.

Interviewee:
__________________.  Every once in awhile you’ll find a Black move out ‘cause he don’t like what’s goin’.  You’ll find a White move out, but basically in that area, Evergreen, _______________ I live in ______________ you got that little group, that little neighborhood.  Now you might find one house sit outside of that ________, but ___________.  Just like you say.


But you got Evergreen and ____________ over there by the Jewish center _______, that area is mixed.  Where back on that side, back on this side ______________________ back in there it’s different.

Interviewer:
Yes; that’s true.  Is this the only area in Memphis where it is this --?

Interviewee:
It’s the only area I know of.  Only area I know of that’s like that.  If somebody _____________ we won’t be back there.  If –

[0:59:00]
Interviewee:
-- somebody shake it up.  Okay; ______________ the guy at the radio station.  Hop _________, walk ___________.  Whole lot of ____________ that area.  ____________________________________________.
Interviewer:
Sure.

Interviewee:
__________________ people in there makin’ about the same amount of money, act the same, same kind of car.  They’re the same.  __________________ people over here.  _______ people over there.  Bring ‘em over here _______________.  Those people never had basic ghetto background ______.  Ya’ know what I’m sayin’?  I have ghetto background, but I’m still in the ghetto.  I could move out.

Interviewer:
But you live over there.  You work –

Interviewee:
I got my business over here.  I’m here all the time.  I’m never –

[1:00:00]


Interviewee:
--  home.  So, you kinda’ feel what I’m talkin’ about.  That area over there, you put them people over here, no people ______________ ____________________.  _________________________ that area.  _______________ they communicate with me, but _________________ communicate with.  It’s that simple.  I’ll communicate with anybody in Memphis.  


See, me myself I communicate with everybody, even __________ and on down.  How many people you know that in a neighborhood like this can ___________.

Interviewer:
Do you think that communication of Blacks and Whites, like –

[1:01:00]
Interviewer:
-- Blacks living in this area here and Whites is practically non-existent?

Interviewee:
___________.

Interviewer:
Yeah.

Interviewee:
____________________ people move over here ____________ that area will change.

Interviewer:
I mean just outside this area.  Do you think that the communication, the basic communication pattern between Black and White people here in Memphis did ever change in the 60s?

Interviewee:
You say White in this area had changed.

Interviewer:
Let me specify.  In general do you think that the communication pattern between Black and White men has changed since the 60s?  I don’t see any change because if I look at this area, for example, as you said, it’s a jail sort of.  Do you think that communication between Black and White people, like Black people from this area –

[1:02:00]
Interviewer:
--and White people from another area has changed?  Has the communication pattern changed?

Interviewee:
Yes; okay, but this one has changed.  This north  Memphis has changed more than any area, okay.  ________________________ a lot of _______________________.  People movin’ out now.  ________ don’t come back, but I’m on the planning commission.  I’m appointed to the planning commission to design the whole or north Memphis.  See, I get a chance to know most of the people out here.  ______ never thought dreamin’ of.


Now ___________________ here back in the 50s and early 60s, we were ____________________.
Interviewer:
Why?

Interviewee:
People moved out, shifted way out East.  Now everybody comin’ back into town and they go right ________ out of here and move them into another area.  That’s true.  I got the blueprints and stuff to show you. 


Now why did they move?  Because this street behind me ___________________ next door _______________ when I –

[1:03:00]
Interviewee:
-- moved here ________________.  Well we call it White ________.

Interviewer:
Sure.
Interviewee:
_____________ the same time people’s comin’ back into the neighborhood now.

Interviewer:
Black people or White?

Interviewee:
White people.

Interviewer:
Why?

Interviewee:
Why?  They come back in and take these old houses and structures and __________________.


But what happened in north Memphis, you came back five years from now you ain’t gonna believe it.  Why don’t you communicate writin’ some time.  

[1:04:00]

Like I say, I wish I could give you so you’ll know better in words what I – newspaper clippin's and stuff, like the newspaper said about me and what they didn’t say.  


Now I’m gonna show you.  Alright, 1968, ’67-’68.  I didn’t really start off to be the good guy that I am, but the newspapers can twist it around.  They made a star.  They twisted.  I could do somethin’, end up like Knights doin’ good job.  I didn’t do the good thing they said I did.

Interviewer:
You did not or you did?

Interviewee:
I didn’t.  But they can take anybody and make.

Interviewer:
But you were as I see it, what you told me and what people from the Black Panthers told me, the newspapers needed people like you to be a counterpart to the Black Panthers.

Interviewee:
Right; what I’m sayin’ is we were the ones to neutralize all the –

[1:05:00]
Interviewee:
-- other groups.  That’s why the newspaper had to pick somebody.  By we bein’ business guys –

Interviewer:
Do you feel used by the newspapers?

Interviewee:
Oh sure; you be used by somebody all the time.

Interviewer:
But on the other hand, it contributed to your success.

Interviewee:
It contributed to my success, but at the same time we were already business people.  If the other Panthers and invaders were the business type guys, we were the violent type guys then they woulda’ took us and isolated us.


Like ________ coffee.  You got a black cup of coffee, right.  You put some cream in it, that’s neutralizing it.  We were the one where we can – the good guys –
Interviewer:
But after all you decided to go on because –

Interviewee:
Basically my idea had good intentions at first, but they made it better.  We’d go out to White churches.  They’d invite us to White church.  In the past get up and say hey, we go ________________ the worst part of town.  

We’d go out there and we would get out there and the pastor would –

[1:06:00]
Interviewee:
-- get up and say, 'I want y’all to meet some people that I know, I met.  They are not like the Black Panthers or Black Invaders.’  I’d get up there and talk.  I could talk bad to ‘em.  


I’d say, ‘Look, you got food and stuff in your refrigerator so frozen that you can kill somebody with it.’  But at the same time they couldn’t go out there and do that.  Everybody seemed to be on my side.

Interviewer:
What do you think, for example, when I talked to the Black Invaders, the Black Panthers, they had weapons.  They had guns, but really action, they never did something.  They never used a lot of violence.  That’s the impression I got.  They were talking a lot about it.

Interviewee:
Oh yeah.  

Interviewer:
That’s the impression too I got.  

[1:07:00]
Interviewee:
They didn’t use it, especially in Memphis.  That’s what happened to that equipment.  That’s what I’m tellin’ you now.  All over this and doin’ the same thing they did in the 60s.  They have the same equipment.  Would they have to – think they bring it up.  Oh, they got the same equipment now.  They got __________________ I had in 1968.  They got the same thing they had, but at the same time _____________________ took some, but if they come in and put it all into power, yeah, they still have some ___________ power.


If you say ______ scatter it you ________________________ same thing.  Invaders still think like they thought.  Panthers think like they thought.  I think like I thought in 1968.

Interviewer:
You said earlier that people think _______________ in 1968 right now, but the climate has changed and that’s one reason –
[1:08:00]
Interviewee:
Yeah; the ________ climate has changed ‘cause the helicopters neutralized a lot of that.  High power camera neutralize that.  Money will come out into a group and ____________ trade it and get a chance to know everything that’s goin’ on in the group.  That type thing, see, that’s what broke a lot of groups now.  


See money will change – got these __________ 30 bucks.  What I’m sayin’, somebody can come in here and _____________ my shop and they came in infiltrated group, get to the man that had the power in the group.  That’s the way you do with a neighborhood like this.  You take a neighborhood like this and ________________ and they would get to him and you got all the rest of ‘em.

[1:09:00]
Interviewer:
Do you think this method of infiltrating is still widely used?

Interviewee:
Mhmm.

Interviewer:
I don’t wanna know by whom.  I know ______ --

Interviewee:
Oh no.

Interviewer:
I don’t want you to name _______ names, but –

Interviewee:
I can’t say some things.  Like I say, a lot of time I won’t say no and I won’t say yes.  Say yes when I won’t say no.  _________________ better not say.  ________________.  


I know ___________ a lot.  What I’m sayin’ is infiltration is everywhere, even church.  You go to church and they stack the ________ from day one.  They stack it to get things passed with yes people.  That’s all over the country.

Interviewer:
Do you think that Black people especially and especially Black militants, since they’re called militants are particularly paranoid about this infiltration?

Interviewee:
Yeah; some of them don’t know what’s goin’ on.  They don’t know what happened to their organization.  They don’t know what happened to that group.  They don’t know what happened to that –

[1:10:00]
Interviewee:
-- dialogue.  They don’t know their self.  They are not geared to think back, analyze what happened in my group.


I’m pretty well versed on what’s goin’ on I think.  What happened is if you have a group and seen that _______________ all you have to do is get to the leader.  Somebody _____________ about stealin’ in the neighborhood and doin’ a lot of things.  All I have to do is get with him and he ain’t gonna take nothin’ from me.  Ya’ know what I’m sayin’.

Interviewer:
Sure.

Interviewee:
So that’s all I’m sayin’.  It’s in churches and in organizations and in groups ______________.  The ones that seem to have the ___________________ that’s the one you – all you got to do is get to him and you got ___________________ behind ya’ ____________.  If you can get to him he’ll talk good stuff and then leave.

[1:11:00]

So you got to talk to a lot of people.  If you hadn’t talked to nobody that is open like I’ve talked to you.  ______________ talk too many people like that.
Interviewer:
To me it’s very helpful to have people talking open because it took me a long time in the beginning to realize that people were ___________ during conversations.  I really didn’t want to – see, the information I wanted to get is not to help the police or to help someone.  It’s the information I wanna get. 

Interviewee:
Well what I’m sayin’ is ________________ .  If you find anybody that’s much more  helpful than what you’re tryin’ to put together.

Interviewer:
Yeah; for example, no, not much more helpful, but for example, --

[1:12:00]
Interviewer:
-- people like Ron Walter, he was open really.  What he thought.  But on the other hand, there are still things he would never say and I accept that.

Interviewee:
Well there would be a few things that I didn’t say.

Interviewer:
They’re always things that people don’t say.  I can accept that, but for example, if you compare ___________ with ______________ Ron Walter’s much more helpful talking.

Interviewee:
See, ____________, off the record, she knows how to _________ --

Interviewer:
Yeah; she even tries to fool you.  She tells you oh, I’ve never been ___________.  No; that’s what the White people say always.  That’s not true.  She was.  Things like that.

Interviewee:
_____________________________ screwed up when you go home.

Interviewer:
Sure.

Interviewee:
I’ll be right back.

Interviewer:
Okay.

[1:13:00]
Interviewee:
You be hearin’ things, but I’m talkin’ about the ____________ --

Interviewer:
No; it’s not.  For example, what I realized is I always talk to one person once ‘cause I don’t have the time to come back and talk again, but what I realize is I should do that because otherwise I don’t get any information really.

Interviewee:
Well what I’m sayin’ is what you got there, the information you got, I don’t know whether it’s helpful or not, but that’s –

Interviewer:
No; it’s helpful.  The information you’ve given me is really helpful.

Interviewee:
It’s true.

Interviewer:
But see a lot of times I realize that I should just keep in contact with those people.

Interviewee:
________________ did you get any report on _________?  The FBI, the record of ___________?

Interviewer:
No.

Interviewee:
___________________ back in ’69, ’68 or ’69.  But anyway when –

[1:14:00]
Interviewee:
-- all this stuff’s goin’ on, a bunch of people picketin’ the hospital.  Hospital’s on strike.  Everybody’s picketin’ the hospital.  So I’ve got the news that the Black Knights were gonna be arrested for picketin’ along with other groups.
Interviewer:
I know about that, the incident of the picketing of the hospital.  

Interviewee:
The same time, I drew out my attaché case, go down to police department, _____ police chief director, walk into his office, throw my attaché case down on the desk.  _____________.  I said I don’t understand the Black Knights are gonna be arrested.  I said, I got a problem.  I said, ‘I understand the Black Knights are gonna be arrested for picketing the hospital.’  He got his pad out.  This is true so yeah –

Interviewer:
I could turn it off.  

Interviewee:
Doesn’t make any difference.  It’s true.  I told him, I say, ‘If any –

[1:15:00]
Interviewee:
-- problem _______________ all you had to do was call me.’  ________________________.  He said, ‘What happened?’  I said, ‘I was at the hospital.  I got a bunch of guys picketing with the other people out there at the hospital and I got the message that Black Knights are gonna be arrested for picketing.’  He said, ‘I’ll tell you what.  I’m gonna make a note.  Tell ________________ Black Knights organization.’  These are true words.  _______ the FBI ________________________.  All them __________________ far as I’m concerned is cool to me ‘cause ______________I tell ‘em _________ told him how I felt and I meant it.  


_____________________________________ I still not _____________.  He made a note.  He talked to _____________ chief tell me, told ‘em not to _____________ Black Knights organization.  One of the police called me one day told me, said, ‘Look ____________________________ Black Knights be –

[1:16:00]

Interviewee:
--picketing at the hospital.  Don’t _________.’  That’s the way he said it.  They didn’t.


___________________________ where I live ________ doin’ some things, brought ‘em to me, brought ‘em here to the shop in the car.  For real.  I know it sounds crazy.  What I’m sayin’ I did _________________.  I stood up for what I believed in.  I did whatever I thought was for the best.  They brought people here to the shop.  They give ‘em to me.  _________________ a member.

[Crosstalk]
Interviewee:
What he was doin’ out there tryin’ to make some White guy buy a membership card with the Black Knights organization.  That’s what ___________________ call the police on him, but they talked to me.  

Interviewer:
Did you advise them back in the hospital ______________ not to picket?

Interviewee:
No.  They could picket.  No.  __________________ participatin’ ____________________ organizations.  That’s what I’m talkin’ –

[1:17:00]
Interviewee:
-- about.  Actually ___________ called the better business bureau on me.  I called everybody ___________.  That’s what _________________.   


So what I’m sayin’ is like I be check on ___________________ share.  _____________ shares _______________.  Anything you can think of, I’m there.  


See, what happened, I’m basically right.  I think I am.  They think I am.  If I wasn’t I wouldn’t be like I am.  So I don’t know.  I don’t –

[1:18:00]
Interviewee:
-- know how to put it to you, but I just get involved.

Interviewer:  
Are there many people, not many people but there are other people _______________ who worked with the police department or with the sheriff’s department during that time?

Interviewee:
No; I just ____________ for the last ____________ I been workin’ with the sheriff’s department ___________________ years.  No.  


The police that worked with me back when I was tellin’ ya’ that were assigned to work with me, they ______________________ workin’ with me.  The other groups had police in there; didn’t know they were police.  ____________________ try to find somebody _______________________________ police ___________.


Other organizations didn’t have that type of thing.  So mine wasn’t in the dark.  ____________________ in the dark.

[1:19:00]
Interviewer:
What about the __________ nights organization?

Interviewee:
______________________ old dilapidated creatures.  They didn’t like us because we were gettin’ food and clothing, giving it to people.  They were selling it.  That’s all.  _____________ nights I know __________ strong.  _____________________, but nothin’.  He was gettin’ _______________ wiped out.  He just got fightin’ mad at me the type of things I would do.  That’s what I’m talkin’ about.  

We got race relations thing, social, ________ within ourselves.  He’s in __________ nights.  I’m the Black Knights organization and he’s gettin’ fightin’ mad.  __________________ got fightin’ mad at me for the things I would do.  See, the stuff I was doin’, I had $20,000.00 clothes in my warehouse at one time, givin’ it to people.  They sell theirs for a price and they ________________.  
[1:20:00]
Interviewer:
But still I think the ___________ nights had more publicity than for example, _________ --

Interviewee:
_____________________________.  ____________, but at the same time we’ve done more.  We get 25 and $3,000.00 and stuff like that at a time.  I’d do a show; give ‘em all the money.  _____________ nationwide.  

Interviewer:
Isaac Hayes, what is he doing right now?

Interviewee:
He’s _________________ and stuff, but he lives in Atlanta, but he raised up right around out here, but see he know the problems and he didn’t have time to deal with it, but he give me the money.  I’d pay to get the people.  He would do a show.  All the proceeds over the expenses he’d give to me and I’d give to the people.  So ________________ $3,000.00 and $4,000.00.  They’d get it from somebody.  We raised our own.


______________________ all them are old enough _______ my –

[1:21:00]
Interviewee:
-- dad and I’m 50.  See, I’m 50 years old and they were all, everybody in that group was old enough to be my father.  Yeah; so what I’m sayin’, automatically.  __________________________________.  _____________ young barber  just don’t have time _____________________________.  ________________________ they started before I came to Memphis.  See, _______________ this is before I came to Memphis.

Interviewer:
Are there any other so-called charitable Black organizations like the ___________ nights or are there more?  No?  Still only one.

Interviewee:
Mhmm.  __________________.  Like I said, like stores would give you 25 and 30 cases of shoes at a time.  Stores would give you like grocery to help people.  I had ________ two trucks all the people on the street when they said I _______________ evicted –

[1:22:00]
Interviewee:
-- from they home and I wanted to do more.  


See, if I had a man and got to be representative of this area I was gonna build an emergency shelter.  We don’t have that.  _____________________ north Memphis.  I’m thinkin’ ______ Memphis.  Emergency shelter when somebody ________________________ Red Cross.  _____________.  I’m talkin’ about emergency shelter.  I don’t know

It bothers me somewhat to know what to do and can’t do.  The money – go back a little bit – the money I got from the grant that you talkin’ about is under the ________________.  

Interviewer:
But the money’s still coming in for charitable _________?

Interviewee:
Under the grant we got ________ that grant, but Isaac Hayes raised all the other money.  _________ went bankrupt and no longer can help.

Interviewer:
He went bankrupt?

Interviewee:
Yes.  What I’m sayin’ is since Isaac went bankrupt that –

[1:23:00]
Interviewee:
-- automatically don’t have money to function.  We had parties, big dance parties, raised a lot of money like that to give to people.  We ain’t got the _______ now ‘cause don’t have the money to pay for the __________ that we gonna ______.  


Like I say, there’s no money circulating like it used to, but if I had some money I could help a lot of people.

Interviewer:
When you were thinking about establishing another organization –
Interviewee:
No; all I gotta do is revive my charter ______________.  I still function.  I still function quite a bit.  Like I say, I make phone calls, get a whole lot done when I don’t have to leave out the shop.  I would like to have another warehouse.  Like I have a lot of clothes, you have clothes that you may give to me and I give you a receipt so you can write off on the income tax.  These are the type things.  


Same thing I been doin’ all the time.  If I had to do it over again I –

[1:24:00]
Interviewee:
--would do that.  That’s what I would do.  That’s what I would do exactly that.  I would go ahead and put the same thing in action that I’ve done before.  That’s what I like to do and I can do.


______________ on Main Street.  I run out.  I go down there and talk to Mr. – down the road __________ front of the store, he give me _____________.  _______________ television.  I don’t know whether you’ve seen her or not.

Interviewer:
I’ve not.

Interviewee:
_____________________; I always ______________________ what she thought about it ____________.  She told me to come out to the house.  She live out east Memphis.  She told me to come out the house.  I ____________ on the floor.  She gave me eight beds out of her house, deep freeze and a refrigerator.  For real.  See if she ____________ $2,000.00 or $3,000.00 worth –

[1:25:00]
Interviewee:
-- _______________ said we don’t want no publicity ‘cause everybody be wantin’ to come _______________.  

People give it to me ________________________.  They would give me a truckload of food every year, a pick-up truckload and I would carry it to the radio station and the radio station give it out.  _______________ if we give you somethin’ we know it’s gonna get in the right hands.  


It do me so much good if you give me somethin’.  You ain’t gonna see me with it on.  That’s all I’m sayin’.

Interviewer:
Yeah; sure.

Interviewee:
But at the same time, some people if you give something or _______ it either way you’ll get down to the real people that need it.  I don’t know what to do.

Interviewer:
Okay.  Thank you very much for the –

Interviewee:
So what I’m sayin’, you got my address –
[End of Audio]
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